1959

Howard W. Brandt and Leona J. Brandt v. Springville Banking Co. et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The parties will be referred to as in the court below.

The only factual evidence requested by and submitted to the lower court are the alleged facts set forth in De-

fendants' Motion for Summary Judgment (R 27), Defendants' Affidavit in support thereof (R 29), Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint (R 21) and Plaintiff's Affidavit Opposing Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment (R 36).

The court did not take any testimony of witnesses as to any factual matter.

Plaintiffs and their family have been patrons and depositors of the Springville Banking Company from approximately 1949 to approximately 1958; that during said time plaintiffs were personal friends of said defendants F. C. Packard and Howard C. Maycock, President and Cashier respectively of said Springville Banking Company; that many times during said period plaintiffs have consulted with said officers of said bank on financial matters pertaining to their personal affairs; that during said time defendant Maycock was the religious teacher and advisor of plaintiffs. (R 42).

Plaintiffs were contacted by said Waldo Jackson and said officers of the Springville Banking Company to put new money into the Jackson Sales & Service Company; that plaintiffs did not want to become involved in Jackson Sales & Service business but were interested in organizing a farm implement corporation with said Waldo Jackson apart from Jackson Sales & Service. Later on Waldo Jackson and the above named defendants proposed that a new corporation be organized under the name of Stockman & Farmers Mart for the purpose of conducting the farm machinery business in which plaintiffs were to invest \$10,000.00; Waldo Jackson was to invest in the new corporation by transferring to it, free of encumbrance, certain of the assets of the Jackson Sales & Service Co. The new corporation was organized by Glen

W. Sumsion, the regular attorney for said defendant bank at the request of and recommendation of Waldo Jackson and said defendants.

That for plaintiffs to go through with their end of the deal it was necessary to borrow \$10,000.00; that the above named defendants suggested that plaintiffs assign their equity in their home in Springville, Utah, to an aunt in California to secure a \$5,000.00 loan from her, and that plaintiff Howard M. Brandt take out a \$5,000.00 policy of insurance on his life with his aunt as beneficiary; that the Santa Monica Branch of the Bank of America made an inquiry at the request of plaintiff's aunt of the Springville Banking Company as to the financial status of plaintiffs and one Waldo Jackson; that the Springville Banking Company through its president, Defendant F. C. Packard, answered said inquiry recommending the loan and the financial integrity of plaintiffs and said Waldo Jackson. (R 37, 50).

Thereafter plaintiffs were successful in procuring the \$5,000.00 loan from said aunt, which sum was deposited to the personal account of plaintiff Howard W. Brandt in the said Springville Banking Company. That said bank then loaned the plaintiffs an additional \$5,000.00 upon their personal note and accepted as security for the payment of same the proceeds from a Salina real estate contract which was escrowed with the bank. This \$5,000.00 was also deposited in the personal account of plaintiff Howard W. Brandt in the said Springville Banking Company.

Up to this point, neither Waldo Jackson, the Springville Banking Company, nor its officers F. C. Packard and Howard C. Maycock, had disclosed to plaintiffs in any way what was to be done with the \$10,000.00 plaintiffs had bor-

rowed for investment in the Stockman & Farmers Mart. That on or about March 2, 1955, plaintiffs met at the Springville Banking Company with the said Waldo Jackson and said defendant, Howard C. Maycock, cashier of the Springville Banking Company, for the purpose of completing the transaction with the Stockman & Farmers Mart. That at said time plaintiffs did not know that the Jackson Sales & Service Co. was indebted to the Springville Banking Company in the sum of \$45,000.00 or any other sum; that at said time plaintiffs did not know that the \$10,000.00 they were putting into the Stockman & Farmers Mart was to be paid out to Jackson Sales & Service Co. and that said Jackson Sales & Service Co. was to immediately pay out said sum to said bank in partial satisfaction of its obligation to the Springville Banking Company; that neither Waldo Jackson nor any of the officers of said bank, each of whom well knew that Jackson Sales & Service Co. was so indebted, made any disclosure to plaintiffs of these facts. That at said meeting, defendant Howard C. Maycock directed that plaintiff Howard W. Brandt make his personal check of \$10,000.00 to the Stockman & Farmers Mart in payment of stock he was to receive in said corporation; that said \$10,000.00 was to be applied by Stockman & Farmers Mart on the purchase price of the inventory of the Jackson Sales & Service Co. which had been taken and evaluated at \$26,500.00. That subsequently, on or about June, 1958, affiant learned that said \$10,000.00 was paid on the said 2nd day of March, 1955, to the defendant, Springville Banking Company, on an indebtedness owing by Jackson Sales & Service to the bank which was in the approximate amount of \$41,194.79 and which was secured by a chattel mortgage in the sum of \$45,000.00 on the personal property of the said Jackson Sales & Service Co., including

the inventory which was to be transferred to the Stockman & Farmers Mart by the said Jackson Sales & Service Co. Said chattel mortgage is the same chattel mortgage referred to in defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment on file in said case. (R. 39) Said chattel mortgage was filed of record with the County Recorder of Utah County on September 24, 1949, as Entry #8708.

That at said time, to-wit, March 2, 1955, Defendant Springville Banking Co. held said chattel mortgage given by Jackson Sales & Service to Defendant Springville Banking Co. for \$45,000.00 on said inventory, fixtures and equipment; that the unpaid balance on said chattel mortgage on March 2, 1955, was approximately \$41,194.79; that plaintiffs at said time did not know of the existence of said chattel mortgage, and they would not have entered into said new business of Stockman & Farmers Mart, nor invested \$10,000.00 or any sum in said company if they had known of the existence of said chattel mortgage at said time; that plaintiffs did not discover or learn of the existence of said chattel mortgage until on or about June, 1958. (R. 40)

That said defendants, by reason of the relationship which existed between them and the plaintiffs, and by reason of plaintiff's placing confidence in them, and by reason of defendants' having superior knowledge of the facts, had a duty to speak and disclose to plaintiffs the existence of said chattel mortgage and the obligation it secured on the 2nd day of March, 1955, and subsequent thereto; that defendants remained silent and thereby deceitfully and fraudulently concealed from plaintiffs the material fact of the existence of said chattel mortgage and the obligation of \$41,194.79 until plaintiffs learned about the existence of said mortgage on or about June, 1958.

Also at the conference at the bank above mentioned, Defendant Maycock credited the bank account of Stockman & Farmers Mart with \$6,500.00, taking its promissory note for the same and specifically directing that this money be used to pay the debts of Jackson Sales & Service Co. and for no other purpose, which was done.

Furthermore, in May 1955, Defendant Packard of the bank put the pressure on Waldo Jackson and plaintiffs to sell the inventory and assets of the Stockman & Farmers Mart in order that the bank's \$6,500.00 obligation could be liquidated. In September, 1955, at the instance and demand of Defendants, Stockman & Farmers Mart did exchange its assets for a farm at Payson, Utah, owned by one E. A. Smithurst subject to a mortgage in the sum of approximately \$6,751.23; the defendant bank presided throughout this Smithurst transaction; a short time later said farm was sold to John T. Martin and the net proceeds thereof in the sum of \$4,300.00 was paid to said defendant bank upon said \$6,500.00 loan.

That said defendants and one Waldo Jackson concealed the plan which the above facts disclose to induce plaintiffs to borrow the \$10,000.00 to invest in farm equipment sales business, but said defendants fraudulently concealed from plaintiffs the fact that said money was in reality to be used for the purpose of liquidating the obligation of the Jackson Sales & Service Co. to the Springville Banking Company; that the Springville Banking Company knew of and participated in the plan to induce plaintiffs to borrow and invest the \$10,000.00 as aforesaid and conspired with the said Waldo Jackson to conceal from plaintiffs the fact that Jackson Sales & Service Co. owed said money to the bank; that the concealment of said material facts in connection with said

business transaction is actionable where there is a duty to speak; this duty to speak arises because of the confidential relationship existing between plaintiffs and defendants, which gives rise to an obligation to reveal all the facts in connection with the transaction and particularly the existence of the Springville Banking Company's chattel mortgage of \$45,000.00, on which there was owing \$41,194.79, covering the assets of Jackson Sales & Service Co., which assets were transferred by the Jackson Sales & Service Co. to Stockman & Farmers Mart; that the inventory of the assets and personal property so transferred as aforesaid had a reasonable cash value of only \$26,500.00; that if there had been a full disclosure to plaintiffs of the facts hereinabove set forth they would not have invested the sum of \$10,000.00 or any other sum into this enterprise and incurred the financial obligations incident to this bankrupt concern.

Defendant Howard C. Maycock, cashier of said bank, falsely represented to plaintiffs that the \$10,000 supplied by plaintiffs would be put into the business of the Stockman & Farmers Mart and another \$10,000 would be put into said business by Waldo Jackson; that the additional capital would make it a better business. That said defendant falsely represented that the obligations of the new corporation would be approximately \$6,500 and the Stockman & Farmers Mart would pay this obligation.

Deposition of Howard C. Maycock: (R. 42-43)

“Q. Are you acquainted with Mr. Howard W. Brandt?

“A. I am.

“Q. When did you first become acquainted with him?

“A. At the time he purchased his home in Springville.

“Q. Do you know when that was?

“A. I would be guessing, but some time around 1949, I think.

“Q. Then for at least approximately 10 years or 9 years you have been acquainted with Mr. Brandt?

“A. That is right.

“Q. What has been the nature of your acquaintance with him?

“A. The fact that he has been a customer of the bank, a depositor having a checking account there and also in connection with church affairs. I happen to be his ward teacher.”

* * *

“Q. Were you acquainted with the business of Jackson Sales & Service as run by Mr. Waldo Jackson?

“A. As he made deposits, yes.

“Q. Didn't you talk to him about how business at that time was going and what obligations he had at this time?

“A. Yes.

“Q. Preceding the March 2nd date?

“A. *We felt an additional \$10,000 in the business would make it a better business and it would also give a new personality to it. We felt Brandt could add something to the business to make it better. He came in as an active participant in the business, he was not just an investor.*

“Q. He was going to work in the business?

“A. And he did work.

"Q. He quit another job to work in the business?

"A. That is right. I guess he had another job.

"Q. At that time, at the time that you were discussing this business with him (Brandt) and Mr. Waldo Jackson, the nature of this business, was anything said about how much ownership each would have in the Stockman and Farmers Mart?

"A. Each was supposed to have a half interest, \$10,000 apiece.

"Q. So, the \$10,000 that Mr. Brandt put up by means of a check that I referred to here before, dated March 2nd, was what he put in that day?

"A. Yes.

"Q. And the deposit that you referred to her for the \$650.00 plus the \$9,350.00 is what Mr. Jackson put in the business?

"A. Yes.

"Q. *At that time they were going over the inventory and this merchandise, did they discuss with you the amount of the obligations? You said something—it was being taken subject to the obligations?*

"A. *My recollection is that it was approximately \$6,500 and Stockman & Farmers Mart would pay that obligation.*

"Q. *To whatever creditors there were of Jackson Sales & Service, is that correct?*

"Yes, *that is correct.*"

* * *

(R. 44)

"Q. On the date of March 2, 1955, did you advise Mr. Howard W. Brandt that the bank had a chattel mortgage on the equipment as shown upon the chattel mortgage and the balance was some \$40,000.00?

“A. I don’t recall.

“Q. When you say you don’t recall, do you recall the conversation?

“A. I don’t know what I told him.”

* * *

“Q. Do you have any reason that you know of not telling Mr. Brandt about the bank’s loan to Mr. Jackson or Jackson Sales & Service for this \$40,000.00?

“A. I said I didn’t tell him. I said I could not remember.

“Q. You don’t think you mentioned it to him?

“A. No.

“Q. Do you know of any reason?

“A. No, I felt this was a separate corporation and had nothing to do with the other one, after the transfer of the physical assets.”

Waldo Jackson in his deposition testified that he did not nor did Jackson Sales & Service Co. invest any money in the Stockman & Farmers Mart; that the two checks of \$650.00 and \$9,350.00 respectively, as testified to by Defendant Maycock, as above set forth, did not represent any cash contribution to the Stockman & Farmers Mart but were simply used as a matter of bookkeeping. The following testimony is taken from the deposition of *Waldo Jackson* (R. 47-48):

“Q. Had you borrowed any money from the bank on Jackson Sales & Service?

“A. Yes, I borrowed money from the bank.

“Q. Under the date of March 2, 1955, do you know how much you owed the bank?

“A. \$40,100.00 and some odd dollars.

“Q. Is that from your own recollection?

“A. That is the note I paid off finally and that was the balance that was owing at the time the deal was set up with Mr. Brandt.

“Q. Did you ever advise Mr. Brandt that this amount was due and owing to the bank?

“A. No, because I didn’t think it concerned him.” (pages 6-7)

* * *

“Q. How much money did you invest in Stockman & Farmers Mart, you personally?

“A. I didn’t invest any, none.

“Q. Did Jackson Sales & Service put anything into it?

“A. How much did they put in?

“Mr. Howard: Are you talking about money?

“Mr. Conder Yes.

“A. Money? None, then. .

“Q. You heard the desposition of Mr. Maycock referring to two checks shown and deposits for Jackson Sales & Service; one for \$650.00 and one for \$9,350.00?

“A. Yes.

“Q. Did you prepare such checks?

“A. Yes, I prepared the checks.

“Q. You say there was no money invested by Jackson Sales & Service?

“A. No.

“Q. Where did the money come from on these checks?

“A. It was to satisfy the inventory transfer, the inventory in Stockman & Farmers Mart, it was just a fixture or instrument in your language, a fixture in mine.”

* * *

“Q. Do you recall borrowing \$6,500.00 from the bank?

“A. Yes, I recall that.

“Q. And signing a note?

“A. I didn’t sign a note.

“Q. I show you the note here for \$6,500.00 which is signed by Mr. Brandt; did you authorize that loan for Stockman & Farmers Mart?

“A. Yes.

“Q. And had you signed anything in connection with this note with the bank?

“A. Not that I recall.” (page 15)

Referring to said chattel mortgage, the President of the Defendant Bank testified in his deposition that said chattel mortgage covered all of the inventory and merchandise of Jackson Sales & Service; that said mortgage was not paid by 1955. (R 46)

Waldo Jackson in his deposition testified he did not disclose to plaintiffs the amount due and owing defendant bank on said chattel mortgage in the sum of \$40,100.00 and some odd dollars at the time the deal was set up with Mr. Brandt. (R 47)

The lower court in his Memorandum Decision stated: (R 54)

“The plaintiffs’ case appears to be based on the making of, and losing an investment of \$10,000 in a corporation known as the Stockman & Farmers Mart in reliance on the representation that the personal property transferred to the corporation was free from liens and encumbrances when in fact there was a chattel mortgage on such property, securing a note

to the defendant bank with an unpaid balance of \$41,194.79. *All particulars were known to the defendants, none of whom disclosed the indebtedness or lien to plaintiffs at the time the plaintiffs discussed with defendants the making of, and arranged and made, the aforesaid investment. The corporation later failed and plaintiffs' investment was lost."*

STATEMENT OF POINTS

I.

PLAINTIFFS' CAUSE OF ACTION IS NOT BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AS SET FORTH IN SECTION 78-12-26, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953, AND AS A MATTER OF LAW PLAINTIFFS DID NOT HAVE ACTUAL OR CONSTRUCTIVE KNOWLEDGE OF THE EXISTENCE OF SAID CHATTEL MORTGAGE MORE THAN THREE YEARS PRIOR TO THE COMMENCEMENT OF SAID ACTION.

II.

THE DEFENDANTS' CONDUCT IN THE SUPPRESSION OF TRUTH, AS WELL AS BY POSITIVE STATEMENTS OF FALSEHOOD, WAS A SUBSTANTIAL FACTOR IN CAUSING PLAINTIFFS' DAMAGE IN THE SUM OF \$10,000.00, AND THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING A SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN SAID CASE.

ARGUMENT

As to Point I, plaintiffs' cause of action is not barred by the statute of limitations as set forth in Section 78-12-26, Utah Code Annotated, 1953.. Section 78-12-26, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, provides a three-year limitation on actions

set forth in said section. Subparagraph (3) reads as follows:

“(3) An action for relief on the ground of fraud or mistake; *but the cause of action in such case shall not be deemed to have accrued until the discovery by the aggrieved party of the facts constituting the fraud or mistake.*”

In the case of SMITH VS. EDWARDS (1932) 81 Utah 244, 17 P 2d 265, the court held:

“Under the laws of Utah it is clear that the limitation does not begin to run until the facts constituting the fraud are discovered. There is therefore a great deal said in these cases about what amounts to discovery. *** The question is, what constitutes a ‘discovery’ within the meaning of the statute? *Mere constructive notice of the deed by reason of its being filed for record is not notice of the facts constituting the fraud.* ***

To ascertain what constitutes ‘a discovery of the facts constituting the fraud,’ reference must be had to the principles of equity. ***Hence, in actions in equity, the rule was that the means of knowledge were equivalent to actual knowledge; that is, that a knowledge of fact which would have put an ordinarily prudent man upon inquiry which, if followed up, would have resulted in a discovery of the fraud, was equivalent to actual discovery.”

The Memorandum Decision of the lower court in granting Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment placed no credence in defendants’ contention that plaintiffs’ cause of action was barred by the statute of limitations. The allegation in plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint that they did not discover or learn of the existence of said chattel mortgage until on or about June, 1958 (R 22-23) is controlling in absence of any evidence to the contrary.

POINT II. THE DEFENDANTS' CONDUCT IN THE SUPPRESSION OF TRUTH, AS WELL AS BY POSITIVE STATEMENTS OF FALSEHOOD, WAS A SUBSTANTIAL FACTOR IN CAUSING PLAINTIFFS' DAMAGE IN THE SUM OF \$10,000.00, AND THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING A SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN SAID CAUSE.

The following excerpts from the Law of Torts by William L. Prosser, 2nd Edition (1955) are pertinent in explanation of the legal questions set forth in plaintiffs' Point II:

"CAUSATION IN FACT: (p. 218-223)

"The defendant is not liable for the plaintiff's injury unless he has in fact caused it. Causation is a matter of what has in fact occurred. The fact of causation is essential to liability, but does not alone determine it, since other considerations may prevent it although causation is established.

"If the defendant's act or omission was a substantial factor in bringing about the result, it will be regarded as a cause in fact. Ordinarily it will be such a substantial factor if the result would not have occurred without it.

"The plaintiff is not required to establish the fact of causation with absolute certainty. It is sufficient that he introduces evidence from which reasonable men may conclude that it is more probable that the defendant's conduct was a cause than it was not.

"An essential element of the plaintiff's cause of action for negligence, or for that matter for any other tort, is that there be some reasonable connection between the act or omission of the defendant and the damage which the plaintiff has suffered. This connection usually is dealt with by the courts in terms of what is called "proximate cause," or "legal cause." There is perhaps nothing in the entire field of law

which has called forth more disagreement, or upon which the opinions are in such a welter of confusion. Nor, despite the manifold attempts which have been made to clarify the subject, is there yet any general agreement as to the proper approach. Much of this confusion is due to the fact that no one problem is involved, but a number of different problems, which are not distinguished clearly, and that language appropriate to a discussion of one is carried over to cast a shadow upon the others.

*“Proximate cause”—in itself an unfortunate term—is merely the limitation which the courts have placed upon the actor’s responsibility for the consequence of his conduct. * * **

“This limitation is sometimes, but rarely, one of the fact of causation. More often it is purely one of policy, not connected with questions of causation at all. If the defendant excavates a hole by the side of the road, and the plaintiff’s runaway horse runs into it, it scarcely can be pretended that the hole was not a cause of the harm, and a very important one. If the defendant escapes responsibility, it is because the policy of the law does not require him to safeguard the plaintiff against such a risk. On the same basis, if the defendant drives through the state of New Jersey at an excessive speed, and arrives in Philadelphia in time to be struck by lightning, his speed is a not unimportant cause of the accident, since without it he would not have been there in time; and if he is not liable to his passenger, it is because in the eyes of the law his negligence did not extend to such a risk. The attempt to deal with such cases in the language of causation can lead only to confusion.

“The simplest and most obvious problem connected with “proximate cause” is that of causation. Of all the questions involved, it is easiest to give an answer to that which traditionally is regarded as most

difficult: has the conduct of the defendant caused the plaintiff's loss? This is a *question of fact, and one on which any layman is quite as competent to sit in judgment as the most experienced court. In the ordinary case, it is peculiarly for the jury.*

“Causation is a fact. It is a matter of what has in fact occurred. A cause is a necessary antecedent: In a very practical sense the term embraces all things which have so far contributed to the result that without them it would not have occurred. It covers not only positive acts and active physical forces, but also pre-existing passive conditions which have played a material part in bringing about the event. In particular, it covers the defendant's omissions as well as his acts. The failure to extinguish a fire may be quite as important in causing the destruction of a building as setting it in the first place. The failure to fence a railway track may be a cause, and an important one, that a child is struck by a train. It is familiar law that if such omissions are culpable they will result in liability.

* * *

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