1959

Howard W. Brandt and Leona J. Brandt v. Springville Banking Co. et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT SINCE AS A MATTER OF LAW UNDER THE UNCONTROVERTED FACTS THE ALLEGED FRAUD OR CONCEALMENT DID NOT PROXIMATELY CAUSE PLAINTIFFS' ALLEGED DAMAGES.

Despite all of the allegations which Plaintiffs attempted to set forth in their affidavit, the fact remains that the single issue raised by Plaintiffs' complaint is the alleged failure of the Defendants to disclose the existence of a chattel mortgage, executed 6 years before, that might have affected personal property being transferred to a corporation Plaintiffs helped organize. It is undisputed that this chattel mortgage was incidental to a real estate mortgage and that the note secured by said mortgage was subsequently discharged without any loss to the Stockmen & Farmers Mart or to the plaintiffs. Plaintiffs even admit that their loss of investment resulted from the failure of the business.

A. *PLAINTIFFS ARE BOUND BY THE ALLEGATIONS OF THEIR COMPLAINT.*

For purposes of the Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment the allegations of the Amended Complaint must be deemed admitted. Plaintiffs cannot seek to vary or alter

the allegations of their Complaint. They cannot seek to set forth new causes of action by affidavit.

Under Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint and the undisputed facts, there is no genuine issue of fact on the question of causation.

It is clear that for purposes of a Motion for Summary Judgment the Court must accept the allegations of the Complaint as true. *Iverson v. United States*, 63 F. Supp. 1001 (D. C. 1946) ; *Downey v. Banker*, 32 F. Supp. 874 (S. D. N. Y. 1940).

The District Court was therefore justified in relying upon Plaintiffs' own allegations in granting the Motion for Summary Judgment.

**B. THE ALLEGED CONCEALMENT OF THE
CHATTEL MORTGAGE WAS NOT THE
PROXIMATE CAUSE OF PLAINTIFFS'
ALLEGED DAMAGES.**

The alleged concealment of the chattel mortgage was not the proximate cause of any damage to the Plaintiffs. In order to make out a case for fraudulent misrepresentation a plaintiff must prove actual damage.

It is evidently plaintiffs' reasoning that had they known of the existence of the mortgage they would not have gone into this business and if they had not gone into the business they would not have lost their money when the business failed. This is not sufficient proximate cause. By the same reasoning they could contend that if they were injured while working for the business or if the building

burned down causing them loss that the Defendants would be responsible.

The Restatement of Torts summarizes the law on this question. Section 549, covering the measure of damages for fraudulent misrepresentation, states that "The measure of damages which the recipient of a fraudulent misrepresentation is entitled to recover from its maker as damages under the rule stated in Section 525 is the pecuniary loss which results from the falsity of the matter misrepresented

* * *'' The comment under this Section states:

"Under the rule stated in this clause the recipient of a fraudulent misrepresentation is entitled to recover from its maker only the actual loss which because of its falsity he sustains by his action or inaction in reliance upon it."

It must then be the falsity of the matter misrepresented that causes the loss. On page 112 of Volume 3 of the Restatement of Torts the following further statement is made:

"One who, having acquired securities, retains them in reliance upon another's fraudulent representation is not entitled to recover from him a loss in value of the securities which is in no way due to the falsity of the representation but is caused by some other subsequent event which has no connection with or relation thereto."

The plaintiffs in this case claim their stock in the Stockman & Farmers Mart became worthless and they therefore lost their investment. Under their allegations, this may well have been the case, but the loss did not result from the alleged misrepresentations of the Defendants.

A great portion of the legal argument of Appellants' brief is devoted to extensive quotations from Prosser on Torts. In Section 90, Page 769, (1st Edition) this author discusses the question of causation in a deceit action:

"Furthermore, the damage upon which a deceit action rests must have been 'proximately caused' by the misrepresentation. So far as the fact of causation is concerned, any loss which follows upon a transaction into which the misstatement induces the plaintiff to enter may be said to be caused by it; but the same considerations which limit liability in cases of tangible harm have operated here. In general, with only a few exceptions, the courts have restricted recovery to those damages which might foreseeably be expected to follow from the character of the misrepresentation. Thus, if false statements are made in connection with the sale of corporate stock, a subsequent decline of the market or insolvency of the corporation will not afford a basis for recovery, unless the fact misstated was of a nature calculated to bring about such a result. Often this is expressed by saying that the representation is 'immaterial' in such a case; but the conclusion is reached even though the plaintiff has relied, and justifiably so, upon what he has been told."

The following cases also illustrate the principle that the damages must proximately result from the fraudulent statement or concealment; *Morrell v. Wiley*, 119 Conn. 578, 178 Atl. 121; *Beare v. Wright*, 14 N. D. 26, 103 N. W. 632; *Morgan v. Hodge*, 145 Wis. 143, 129 N. W. 1083; *Hindman v. First National Bank*, 112 Fed. 931 (6th Cir. 1902); *Hotling v. A. B. Leach & Co.*, 247 N. Y. 84, 159 N. E. 870; *Haentz v. Loehr*, 233 Wis. 583, 290 N. W. 163.

In the *Morrell* case, cited above, the Court said:

“* * * the damages are measured by the difference between the actual value of the property received and its value had it been as represented.”

In the *Beare* case, the Court said:

“Respondent asserts that he was inveigled into the speculation by the deceit of the appellants and, therefore, the false representations are the proximate cause of the loss he has suffered. The argument is more plausible than sound.”

“The measure of damages in such cases is the difference between the value of the property as it actually was and its value as it would have been if it were such as represented to be in those particulars in relation to which the false and fraudulent representations were made.”

It is a fundamental rule that in order to maintain a suit for fraud or deceit, some damage must be proved. In 23 American Jurisprudence, Section 172, Page 985, it says:

“It is a fundamental principle of law that with the exception of special cases recognized only in some jurisdictions, in order to secure relief on a basis of fraud either in law or equity, the person seeking redress must be damaged, injured or harmed as a result of an asserted fraud.”

In Section 176, the following statement is made:

“To sustain an action for deceit, the fraud and injury must be connected and must bear to each other the relation of cause and effect.”

In the case of *Kosmos Portland Cement Co. v. D. A. Y. Construction Co.*, 101 F. 2d 893, 896, (7th Cir. 1939) the following statement appears:

“It is a rule of universal application that to constitute an actionable fraud, it must appear that

the complaining party has been in some way damaged or prejudiced. * * * The fraud and injury must be connected and bear to the other the relation of cause and effect; the damage must flow from the fraud as the proximate and not the remote cause."

In the case of *Manby v. Hibbard*, 71 Colo. 296, 206 Pac. 381, the Court said:

"It is elementary that the damages recoverable are those which result directly and proximately from the deceit complained of."

The Plaintiffs by their complaint have alleged the existence of fraud by concealment and they have also alleged that they sustained damages by the loss of their investment when the business venture failed. They have failed to allege, however, and under the undisputed facts they cannot prove that the alleged fraud was the proximate cause of their damages. While, for purposes of argument, it might be said that they would not have made the investment had they known of this chattel mortgage, the fact remains that the chattel mortgage did not cause the loss of which they complain.

We have found no Utah case specifically dealing with the issue of causation in a deceit action but the law as quoted above from the Restatement of Torts is unanimously accepted. It must be the falsity of the fact misrepresented that causes the loss to the recipient.

POINT II.

PLAINTIFFS' CAUSE OF ACTION IS BARRED AS A MATTER OF LAW BY THE STATUTE

OF LIMITATIONS AS SET FORTH IN SECTION 78-12-26, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953, SINCE PLAINTIFFS HAD CONSTRUCTIVE KNOWLEDGE OF THE EXISTENCE OF THE CHATTEL MORTGAGE.

As noted, the trial court relied upon the argument and legal reasoning set forth in Point I in granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. Equally valid, however, is the first ground set forth in the Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 27).

Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint purports to state a cause of action based upon the alleged concealment of the existence of a chattel mortgage dated September 19, 1949 given by Jackson Sales & Service Company to Defendant Springville Banking Company. The concealment of this fact was alleged to have taken place in March of 1955. This lawsuit was not commenced within three years after the date of the alleged fraud. Plaintiffs amended their original complaint, however, to allege that the fraud was not discovered until June of 1958. The chattel mortgage involved was filed of record in the office of the Utah County Recorder in September of 1949 and was on file at the time of the alleged fraud.

Section 78-12-26, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, provides for a 3-year statute of limitations on "an action for relief on the ground of fraud or mistake; but the cause of action in such case shall not be deemed to have accrued until the discovery by the aggrieved party of the facts constituting the fraud or mistake."

Our Supreme Court has clearly held that the discovery of the fraud does not require actual notice of the facts and that a person is deemed to have discovered the existence of the fraud if he has the means of obtaining the information or has knowledge which would lead a reasonable person to discover the facts.

In *Reese Howell Co. v. Brown*, 48 Utah 142, 158 Pac. 684, at page 690, the Court said:

“If a mistake occurred therefore, as alleged, he at least had all the means in his possession of ascertaining that fact and hence must be deemed to have known of the alleged mistake, under such circumstances our statute of limitations which was pleaded as a defense to the cause of action in question constitutes a complete bar.”

The Court then cited the case of *Weight v. Bailey*, 45 Utah 584, 147 Pac. 899 and stated:

“We there held that where the facts constituting the alleged fraud or mistake are known, or where circumstances are as in this case, that is, if facts should have been known to the complaining party, he cannot successfully maintain an action. * * *”

Certainly the Plaintiffs in this case had the means of discovering the alleged fraud at the time of the transaction. An examination of the county records would have disclosed the existence of the mortgage.

This Court has stated that where an instrument is recorded all persons are deemed to have knowledge of this fact. In *Smith v. Edwards*, 81 Utah 244, 17 P. 2d 264, 269, involving a real estate mortgage, the Court said:

“From the time of recording these conveyances all persons, including plaintiffs, notice was imparted

to them that the conveyances contained the statements above quoted. That the plaintiff and all other persons had notice that such conveyances had been made and recorded seems to go without saying, for surely, if one is charged with notice of the contents, he must be charged with notice of the existence of the document itself."

With reference to a chattel mortgage the Supreme Court in *Bonneville Lumber Co. v. Peppard Seed Co.*, 72 Utah 463, 271 Pac. 226, said:

"The mortgage, as executed and recorded, was unquestionably constructive notice to the defendant and all the world of the existence of a chattel mortgage valid on its face."

Plaintiffs cite the case of *Smith v. Edwards, supra*, in which the Court said "Mere constructive notice of the deed by reason of its being filed for record is not notice of the facts constituting the fraud." In the present case it is the mere existence of the mortgage that is in issue, not the existence of any fraud surrounding the execution of the mortgage. Certainly the Court did not intend by the above language to hold that the parties were not charged with knowledge as to the existence of the deed.

The courts have made a distinction between this type of case where a failure to disclose the existence of a recorded instrument is involved and the cases where the defendant affirmatively tells the plaintiff that there are no encumbrances. In the latter situation the courts in some states have held that the plaintiff is excused from examining the records. In the present case, however, no conten-

tion is made that the defendants made any oral misrepresentations or that they discouraged plaintiffs from searching the county records.

A conclusion such as the plaintiffs and appellants seek to reach would nullify the purpose of our recording statutes in imparting constructive notice of the instrument filed of record.

CONCLUSION

The District Court properly granted Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment pursuant to Rule 56, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, and the Memorandum Decision of Judge Harding in which he states: "There is no allegation or showing of any kind as to the cause of the failure and whether the failure had any connection with the undisclosed indebtedness or chattel mortgage" is fully supported by the record. It is also conclusively shown that as a matter of law the cause of action alleged by plaintiffs is barred by the Statute of Limitations. The summary judgment should be affirmed.